IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

APRIL PARKS,

Appellant,

٧.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 07 2021 12:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 82876

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. A-19-807564-W

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Conviction Solutions Jamie J. Resch Nevada Bar Number 7154 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada, 89128 (702) 483-7360

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether trial counsel was ineffective under the United States or Nevada Constitution by advising Parks to reject a more favorable plea deal and Parks was subsequently sentenced to a much longer period of incarceration.

- B. Whether trial counsel was ineffective under the Nevada or United States Constitution when trial counsel failed to adequately prepare for or advocate at the time of sentencing.
- C. Whether trial counsel was ineffective under the Nevada or United States Constitution when counsel failed to file a notice of appeal on Parks' behalf after sentencing.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 8, 2017, the State of Nevada filed a 270-count indictment against Appellant April Parks ("Parks") that alleged many counts of theft, exploitation of an older person, perjury, and other felonies. 1 AA 1. Parks entered into a guilty plea agreement under North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), on November 5, 2018. 1 AA 176. Under the agreement, Parks pleaded guilty per Alford to two counts of exploitation of an older/vulnerable person, two counts of theft, and one count of perjury. 1 AA 176.

The agreement noted that Parks chose to "reject" a stipulated sentence of eight to twenty years in prison. 1 AA 177. Under the Alford agreement, the State retained the full right to argue for any sentence.

Parks also agreed to pay restitution in the stated amount of \$559,205.32.

Although trial counsel was granted funds to retain a forensic account to examine the State's loss allegation, counsel never followed through with having the expert perform any work or generate a report. 4 AA 684, 688.

Sentencing was held on January 4, 2019. 2 AA 266. Several victim speakers were present in the courtroom. 2 AA 269. Defense counsel objected during the hearing because no proper notice of victim speakers was ever provided. 2 AA 315. Even though the State admitted it sent the notice to the "wrong Goldstein," the Court overruled the objection and allowed the numerous speakers to testify. 2 AA 316-317.

At the end of the sentencing, the judge noted Parole and Probation's recommendation of parole eligibility after 64 months served, and declared "that is absolutely what is not about to happen today." 2 AA 386. The court then sentenced Parks to an aggregate sentence of 192 to 480 months in prison, far longer than either P&P's recommendation or the State's prior offer of an 8-20 year sentence. 2 AA 387.

Despite the onerous sentence imposed, trial counsel never filed a notice of appeal and the appeal time lapsed. But on December 27, 2019, Parks filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus that alleged counsel was ineffective by advising her to accept the "right to argue" style plea

agreement, by failing to prepare for or advocate at sentencing, and by failing to pursue a direct appeal. 1 AA 124.

A supplemental petition was filed on September 30, 2020 which kept those same issues but provided far more factual information to support them. 1 AA 137.

The prosecution in general was some type of collaboration between the District Attorney and Attorney General. As a result, the "State" responded to the supplement through the Attorney General's Office. 4 AA 696. The District Attorney tried to file their own response, but it was not filed until March 2021 and the court refused to consider it when it heard the matter in February. 5 AA 837, 6 AA 1020. The court stated it would hold an evidentiary hearing on the appeal deprivation claim only. 6 AA 1023.

The trial court heard the evidentiary hearing on March 18, 2021. 6 AA 1024. Both trial counsel and Ms. Parks testified. After the hearing, the court denied relief on the claim and denied relief on all claims. 6 AA 1077. This appeal followed.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to the claims raised in this appeal are those related to the post-conviction petition, although that issue necessarily encompasses arguments that could have been raised at the time of sentencing.

As stated above, Ms. Parks decided to resolve the charges against her by accepting responsibility by a guilty plea. The general wisdom of that decision is not under review here. But the decision to accept one offer instead of another is.

At the guilty plea canvass, Parks was asked about why she had accepted an <u>Alford</u> plea where the State retained the right to argue for any lawful sentence, which would include consecutive sentencing between all counts. 1 AA 192-193. She was also asked to confirm that she had rejected a stipulated sentence of 8-20 years here, which would have run concurrent to a second prosecution against her as well. 1 AA 193.

Because it was an <u>Alford</u> plea, the State provided the factual basis for the plea. According to the State, it would have shown at trial that Parks' company, "A Private Professional Guardian, LLC" was a criminal enterprise in that through it Parks supposedly committed the "numerous criminal offenses" alleged in the original indictment. 1 AA 197.

The State detailed several schemes relevant to the claim trial counsel failed to properly advocate at sentencing. According to the State, the "multiple billing fraud" scheme involved visiting several wards at one facility but billing separate time for all services provided. 1 AA 198. This scheme was alleged to cause a \$100,262.25 loss to 27 victims.

Next was the "unnecessary services" scheme in which Parks allegedly inflated billings or used overqualified professionals for menial tasks to bill at a higher rate. 1 AA 198. This scheme was alleged to result in a \$60,593.78 loss to 12 victims.

Another issue was the so-called "Christmas gift scam." 1 AA 198.

According to the State, Parks would purchase low-cost gifts for wards and then charge exorbitant visitation or delivery fees for the items. This scheme was alleged to result in a \$1507.50 loss to 48 victims.

The fourth scheme was styled as the "mortuary and toilet paper scam." 1 AA 199. On one single occasion, a codefendant apparently billed \$1600 to 12 individuals for picking up cremated remains or delivering toilet paper.

Next, the State detailed a "court paperwork scam" in which Parks used a codefendant to stand in line to file court paperwork at a high billing rate even though electronic filing was supposedly available. This scheme was alleged to result in a \$74,229.90 loss to 109 victims. A related scheme supposedly involved overbilling for making trips to banks in the amount of \$67,775.00 on behalf of 130 victims. A final scheme involved excessive billed time to complete Social Security paperwork in the amount of \$13,044.00. 1 AA 199.

The State then detailed a series of individual victims and various transactions which it contended Parks used to cause loss to the individuals involved. 1 AA 200-202.

Before sentencing, the State filed a memorandum in which it repeated many of the same scheme allegations committed by Parks. 2 AA

206. The State also provided information about twelve individual victims.

2 AA 213-221. The State argued that the only appropriate sentence was the "maximum" sentence, with all counts run consecutive to each other.

2 AA 221. The State also argued, without a clear analysis of how it arrived at the number, that restitution was required in the amount of \$559,205.32.

2 AA 221.

The State used its restitution figure to justify its harsh sentencing request. "The restitution figure of \$559,205.32 is a large amount." 2 AA 227. The State also used the fact Parks originally faced "over 200 felony charges" as a basis for its recommendation, despite the reality that the State had exclusive control over how many charges it brought for the same conduct. 2 AA 228. The State further contended that Parks "still has shown no remorse for any of her actions...," ignoring the fact she entered into a guilty plea agreement. 2 AA 228. (Further stating, "While Parks has acknowledged that the State could prove the charges against her, she has refused, thus far, to admit her criminal culpability").

The defense also filed a sentencing memorandum, but it did not provide a particularly deep analysis of mitigating factors and made no effort to identify errors in the State's position. The defense memorandum first pointed out Parks had never used physical violence against any of her wards. 2 AA 233.

Although the defense memorandum claimed to explore the "forensic" accounting of the alleged conduct, the defense arguments were limited to contending that Parks did not steal money because she drove a modest car and eventually filed for bankruptcy. 2 AA 236-37. The defense tried to explain while Parks owned her LLC, others were responsible for billing entries. 2 AA 243. The defense memorandum concluded with "letters of support" from four of Parks' relatives and one friend. 2 AA 246.

Facts related to sentencing issues

At sentencing, the defense sat silently by while speaker after speaker unloaded on Parks. To be sure, Parks had pleaded guilty and some of the information conveyed by speakers was likely relevant. But plenty was not, and the defense could have objected to several statements by speakers or

prosecutors. The relevant facts from sentencing, along with related facts developed during the post-conviction investigation, largely fall into four groups.

1. Facts related to improper arguments by the State

At sentencing, the prosecutor contended that Parks had shown no remorse because she only pleaded guilty under Alford. 2 AA 277. The State also argued that several individuals never needed guardianships. 2 AA 220. The State also tried to argue, with no evidentiary support, the legislative history behind Nevada's exploitation statutes. 2 AA 226. The State also argued that Parks mismanaged funds, left various wards with no guardian, and acted in a "ghoulish" manner.

The post-conviction investigation revealed several additional facts which defense counsel never used. First, contrary to the State's arguments, guardianships overseen by Parks were supported by medical evidence that substantiated the need for the guardianship. An exhaustive review of public guardianship files for several of the individual victims revealed the following:

North: A petition for appointment of temporary guardian was filed by Parks in 2013. 2 AA 389. The petition was supported by a statement from Sanghamitra Basu, a medical doctor licensed by the State of Nevada. 2 AA 398. Dr. Basu personally examined Mr. North and concluded a guardianship was necessary based on symptoms of confusion that could lead to a possible accidental overdose. In addition, in an attached report, Dr. Basu explained that Mr. North was a long-term patient, and that the doctor noticed a "significant" decline in behavior before the guardianship. 2 AA 400. Mr. North could not care for his wife, refused to go to the hospital after a 911 call, and needed daily assistance with medication. 2 AA 400.

Neely: A petition for appointment of temporary guardian was filed in 2014. 2 AA 401. The petition was supported by a statement from Akindele Kolade, a medical doctor licensed by the State of Nevada. 2 AA 410. Dr. Kolade concluded that Ms. Neely needed a guardianship because of a diagnosis of schizophrenia, which prevented her from living independently. It was Dr. Kolade's opinion that Ms. Neely's condition was so substantial

that she would not comprehend the reason for any court proceeding about the guardianship. 2 AA 410.

Mesloh: A petition for appointment of guardian was filed in 2013.

3 AA 412. The petition was supported by a statement from John Reyes, a physician assistant licensed to practice in the State of Nevada. Based on a personal examination, Mr. Reyes concluded a guardianship was necessary based on Mr. Mesloh's several health conditions that required 24-hour case. 3 AA 418. In an attached letter, Mr. Reyes added that Mr. Mesloh agreed the guardianship was in his best interest based on his medical problems and that he was "totally dependent on others for all his care."

These are examples. A briefer review about every individual identified by the State shows that every single request for guardianship was supported by the diagnosis of a medical provider: Shanna Maclin, G-15-042610-A, certified by Habim Gemil, M.D.; Georgann Cravedi, G-14-040665-A, certified by Chad Hall, physician; Norman Weinstock, G-08-032656-A, certified by Sofronio Soriano, M.D.; Barbara Lasco, G-14-039735-A, certified

by John Reyes, PA-C; Joseph McCue, G-14-039900-A, certified by Suresh Bhushan, physician; Jack King, G-14-039730-A, certified by Alex Del Rosario, M.D.; Adolfo Gonzalez, G-13-038316-A, certified by Wenwel Wu, M.D. 1 AA 148-149.

The only individual listed by the State that called for a more complicated analysis is Milly Kaplove. Even so, an examination of the record in that matter reveals that, after an evidentiary hearing attended by Ms. Kaplove, the court found that the initial request for a guardianship by Ms. Parks was "justified," but that the ward had since recovered and no longer needed a guardian. 3 AA 422.

Turning to the legislative history arguments, facts available to defense counsel were that the operative statute about exploitation was NRS 200.5099, which was passed in 1995 as part of Assembly Bill 585 and related Senate Bill 416. What little discussion there is suggests revisions were necessary in particular to "keep violent criminals in prison longer and release nonviolent criminals into probation sooner." 3 AA 442. Testimony focused on the need for a "range of penalties for crimes against elders."

3 AA 447. The Division of Aging Services, which proposed the statutory changes, simply concluded that a "range" of penalties was necessary including "up to 20 years imprisonment or fines of up to \$25,000 for more serious cases." 3 AA 450.

2. Facts related to lack of notice about victim speakers

As discussed above, the State admitted at the sentencing that it failed to give notice to the defense regarding victim speakers.

As a result, the court heard substantial testimony from multiple victim speakers which went far beyond what would have been authorized under the statute, with no meaningful rebuttal by trial counsel. Highlights include at least one speaker screaming repeatedly that Petitioner was "Hitler" or a "Nazi" 2 AA 367, 370, 379, 380, that Petitioner impersonated a police officer including by use of a LVMPD badge, 2 AA 353, or that Petitioner was "Lilith," 2 AA 378, a reference to a notorious biblical demon.

During the post-conviction investigation, relevant facts about some speakers were identified. While none of this information was located or

used by trial counsel, it would have undercut the accuracy of information presented by the speakers.

Example No. 1: Larry Braslow testified at sentencing on behalf of his mother. Larry specifically requested the court "to be the champions they claim to be for all our beloved elderly. Send a clear message to anyone (emphasis added) who wants to steal from and destroy our precious one's lives." 2 AA 322. Effective trial counsel could easily have accessed the publicly available guardianship case and learned that there was evidence in it that Larry had in fact stolen from his mother and that was why a nonfamily member was appointed guardian in the first place. 3 AA 522. Larry was specifically accused by his mother of having stolen her identity and incurred debt in her name. 3 AA 535. Moreover, in a subsequent filing under the pains and penalties of perjury, Larry's brother Alan asserted that Larry was seeking to "gain control over my mother's finances and I am strongly opposed to that occurring." 3 AA 550.

Example No. 2: The public guardian testified about several individual cases. One involved a Maria Cooper, and as to her, the public guardian asserted there were no cognitive issues and the only impairment was hearing loss – apparently an argument that no guardianship was ever necessary. 2 AA 325.

The public guardian's statements to the court were materially untrue. First, the publicly available petition for guardianship which trial counsel could easily have accessed reveals that the ward suffered from severe panic attacks that led her to call 911 in the middle of the night. 3 AA 577. An examination by Dr. David Wikler revealed a diagnosis of dementia. 3 AA 578. The clock-drawing test, a simple and common tool to screen for dementia, speaks for itself. 3 AA 580.

The public guardian declined to inform the court that not only did Ms. Cooper consent to the guardianship and want April Parks as her guardian, she expressly stated she did not want previously nominated individuals to have control of her estate. 3 AA 582.

Example No. 3: The public guardian argued on behalf of Kathy

Godfrey, and contended that no guardianship was necessary in the first

instance. 3 AA 334. Yet trial counsel could have accessed publicly available

information to determine that Dr. Richard Paguia determined that

Ms. Godfrey suffered from chronic alcoholism manifested by increasing

falls. 3 AA 591. Court minutes from the proceeding show Ms. Godfrey

consented to the guardianship. 3 AA 593.

Example No. 4: The public guardian testified about William Brady, and stated his estate was worth "approximately \$148,000" when the guardianship began, but was worth less than \$20,000 when the public guardian took over. 2 AA 335. The public guardian explained the guardianship began in 2010 and the public guardian took over in 2015, and that Ms. Parks collected some \$33,000 in fees. Effective counsel could have provided some context to these numbers and explained that Ms. Park's fees were collected over a five-year period, leading to a per-year average of \$6,600. These fees amount to less than \$600 per month. For context, the

accounting from the guardianship shows most of the assets were spent on room and board - \$122,000 over a five-year period. 3 AA 598.

Example No. 5: Herman Mesloh (discussed above) testified about his wife's guardianship. Herman explained that his wife "was fine" and did not need a guardianship. 2 AA 339. But effective trial counsel could have obtained the petition from Kathy Mesloh's guardianship and learned that Dr. Robert Chiascione determined a guardianship was necessary because the ward could not bathe, cook, groom, or take her medication without assistance. 3 AA 607.

Example No. 6: Amy Wilkening testified on behalf of her deceased father, Norbert Wilkening. 2 AA 346. She testified Norbert was "conscripted" into guardianship by Ms. Parks. She also referenced in a negative way that the guardianship was based on the analysis of a nurse practitioner. 2 AA 347. While the part about a nurse practitioner is true, there is no allegation this was improper under the law. Moreover, the publicly available petition reveals the nurse practitioner provided much more information than did some of the medical doctors to support his

conclusion, which ultimately was that the guardianship was necessary because of dementia. 3 AA 621. The witness also accused Ms. Parks of lying about the need to dispose of the ward's personal property. 2 AA 348. That said, a publicly available independent property report stated that the value of the ward's personal property was "less than \$100 for everything" because most items were broken, garbage, stained with human waste and other biohazards, and in overall poor condition. 3 AA 624.

Example No. 7: Elizabeth Indig testified about her mother, who has the same name. 2 AA 353. Ms. Indig testified that Ms. Parks represented herself as a police officer including the use of a "fake" Metro badge. 2 AA 353. The State never produced any evidentiary support of that allegation. The speaker also testified that she was not allowed to visit her mother during the guardianship because she was a "danger" to her mom because she wanted to bring her macaroni and cheese to eat. 2 AA 353. Yet publicly available documents show Ms. Indig was a danger to her mother because there were prior allegations of serious physical abuse. 4 AA 628-629. In fact, a specific likely mandatory, report of abuse was made by a

social worker about "abuse by this patients daughter, Elizabeth Indig." 4 AA 645. In addition, a neighbor reported that Ms. Indig had stolen her mother's jewelry and taken money for her own use out of the mother's bank account. 4 AA 645.

Court minutes from the guardianship show that Ms. Indig was involved in the guardianship from the beginning, repeatedly declined to follow advice given to her by the guardianship court to include steps she could take to assume the mantle of guardian, and ultimately the request was made to declare her a vexatious litigant. 4 AA 645-646.

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