IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

APRIL PARKS,

Appellant,

Case No. 82876

Electronically Filed

v.

Nov 08 2021 01:57 p.m. District Court No. 8th Hizabeth A. Brown

(Clark County)

Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD **Attorney General** MICHAEL J. BONGARD (Bar No. 7997) Senior Deputy Attorney General Office of the Attorney General 1539 Avenue F, Suite 2 Ely, Nevada 89301 (775) 289-1632 (phone) (775) 289-1653 (fax) mbongard@ag.nv.gov

JAMIE J. RESCH, RESCH LAW, PLLC

2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada 89128 (702) 483-7360

Attorney for Appellant

STEVE B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A defendant's guilty plea must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. A defendant has a right to the assistance of competent counsel. Parks' state habeas petition raised three grounds for relief, all of which Parks raises in her brief.

///

In Ground One, Parks alleged that Goldstein performed deficiently by advising Parks to reject a more favorable plea deal (a stipulated sentence).

Effective counsel at the plea stage provides their client the tools they need to make an informed choice between alternative courses of action. Giving a client erroneous advice on a point of law at the plea stage may meet the standard for deficient performance. However, incorrectly predicting the outcome of a sentencing hearing does not rise to the level of deficient performance.

In her petition, Parks failed to point out what Goldstein specifically said that constituted "constitutionally deficient" advice. Furthermore, the record reflects that Parks and Goldstein discussed the plea offer provided by the prosecution and that Parks' decision to reject the stipulated sentence constituted her choice among the available options after being fully informed of all alternatives.

The district court correctly rejected this claim because Parks failed to satisfy her burden of showing Goldstein was deficient and that Parks suffered prejudice *because* of this alleged deficiency.

In her opening brief, Parks adds a new argument to Ground One. She links Goldstein's allegedly deficient advice to new allegations that Goldstein failed to prepare for sentencing. This Court should decline to consider this new "cumulative error" claim because Parks failed to present good cause for failing to raise the claim below.

In Ground Two, Parks alleged that Goldstein was ineffective during sentencing. The claim alleges that Goldstein failed to object to a lack of notice regarding victim impact witnesses. But the record repels Parks' allegations. Therefore, Parks cannot demonstrate deficient conduct.

In Ground Two, Parks also alleges that Goldstein failed to object to purportedly improper argument by the prosecution and improper comments by victim impact speakers. However, the district court found the sentence imposed by the court reflected the seriousness of the offenses, rather than any purportedly improper argument or comments presented at the sentencing hearing.

In Ground Two, Parks further alleges that Goldstein failed to object to an improper restitution amount. However, the record reflects that the district court adjusted the amount of restitution at a post-sentencing hearing. Also, to the extent that Parks alleges the restitution amount was improperly calculated, there is nothing in the record demonstrating that Parks notified Goldstein of a further need to adjust the amount of restitution owed.

In Ground Two, Parks finally alleges that Goldstein failed to object to a sentence that amounts to cruel and unusual punishment, supplying data that suggests the sentence is disproportionate. However, that supplemental data fails to take into account the fact that the district court pronounced its sentence based on the seriousness of Parks offenses. Likewise, Parks' data comparing her sentence to other

sentences (in Nevada and other jurisdictions) fails to take into account the number of Parks' victims or the age and vulnerability of Parks' victims. The sentence imposed in Parks' case is within the statutory range for her offenses. The minimum sentence imposed (16 years) is below the upper third of what the court could have imposed (25 and one-half years). The maximum term imposed (40 years) is also below two-thirds of the possible maximum sentence (64 years) for the offenses. The sentence imposed reflects the trial court's findings that the sentence imposed reflects the seriousness of the crimes and Parks' culpability compared to her co-defendants.

In Parks' final claim (Ground Three), challenges alleges that Goldstein's failure to file a notice of appeal. However, after hearing the testimony of both Parks and Goldstein, the district court concluded that Goldstein was not ineffective after finding that Goldstein met with Parks to discuss her options and Parks never expressly requested an appeal.

This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. THE RELEVANT LAW

A. The Standard of Review

Review of the denial of a habeas corpus petition presents a mixed question of law and fact. *See, Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). This Court gives deference to a district court's factual findings "so long as they are

supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong." *Lader v. Warden*, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005), *see also, Riley v. State*, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). The Court reviews the district court's application of the law *de novo*. *See*, *Gonzales v. State*, 492 P.3d 556, 562 (Nev. 2021).⁴

B. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel In General

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) actual prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687–88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 432–33, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the standard in *Strickland*). A reviewing court "may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either one." *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996) (*citing Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

C. Evaluating Counsel's Effectiveness During a Plea

The entry of a guilty plea by a defendant must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Molina v. State*, 120 Nev. 185, 191, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).

The United States Supreme Court found that the two-part test in Strickland applies to counsel's performance during plea bargaining. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S.

⁴ 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 40.

52, 58 (1985). "The first part of the inquiry is whether counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." *Turner v. Calderon*, 281 F.3d 851, 879 (9th Cir. 2020), *citing Lockhart*, 474 U.S. at 56 (internal quotation marks omitted). A petitioner demonstrates prejudice by showing that "counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." Lockhart, 474 U.S. at 59.

In 2012, the Court issued two opinions applying *Strickland* during the plea process. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156 (2012), *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134 (2012). In *Frye*, the Court found that defense counsel has a duty to communicate formal plea offers and that allowing a plea offer to expire without communicating the offer to the client constitutes deficient performance. 566 U.S. at 145. In *Lafler*, the Petitioner (Michigan) conceded ineffective assistance where counsel provided objectively deficient advice (as opposed to merely incorrect advice) when advising his client to reject the State's plea offer. 566 U.S. at 166. But for the deficient advice, the petitioner would have accepted the plea offer and received a lighter sentence. 566 U.S. at 160-61.

The ultimate decision to accept or reject an offer belongs to the defendant. See, Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 93 n.1 (1977) (Burger, C.J., concurring).

///

///

D. Evidentiary Hearings

To obtain an evidentiary hearing, a defendant must present specific factual allegations that, if proven to be true, would entitle him to the relief he seeks. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "In instances where a defendant's claim is neither belied by the record, nor procedurally or doctrinally barred, the district court should conduct an evidentiary hearing." *Little v. Warden*, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 P.3d 540, 546 (2001). "A claim is 'belied' when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made." *Mann v. State*, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002).

E. Appeal Deprivation Claims

In order to demonstrate deficient performance for failing to file a timely notice of appeal, this Court found there are "two separate, but related, components: counsel's duty to inform and consult with the client regarding the right to appeal and counsel's duty to file an appeal." *Toston v. State,* 127 Nev. 971, 977, 267 P.3d 795, 799 (2011).

Counsel does not have a constitutional duty to always inform his client of the right to an appeal when the conviction results from a guilty plea. *Id.*, (citing Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 158, 150, 979 P.2d 222, 223 (1999)). In the guilty plea context, the attorney's duty arises when "the defendant inquires about the right to appeal or in circumstances where the defendant may benefit from receiving advice about the

right to a direct appeal." Id.

Under *Toston*, there exist two circumstances when counsel possesses a duty to file an appeal: (1) when the client requests an appeal; and (2) "when the defendant expresses dissatisfaction with his conviction." *Toston*, 127 Nev. at 978, 267 P.3d at 800, *citing Lozada v. State*, 110 Nev. 349, 354-57, 871 P.2d 944, 947-49 (1994). Failure to file an appeal in these cases constitutes deficient performance under a *Strickland* analysis. *Id.* In contrast, there is no duty to file an appeal if counsel consults with the defendant and no appeal is requested.

Addressing the same issue, the United States Supreme Court found that whether counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal constituted deficient behavior is best by first asking whether counsel "consulted with the defendant about an appeal." *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 478 (2000). "Consulting" means discussing "the advantages and disadvantages of taking an appeal, and making a reasonable effort to discover the defendant's wishes." *Id.* The Court found counsel who consulted with his client about an appeal performs deficiently by "failing to follow the defendant's express instruction with respect to an appeal." *Id.*

II. PARKS' COUNSEL PERFORMED EFFECTIVELY DURING THE PLEA PROCESS

A. Parks' Claim

1.) Parks' petition in the district court

In Ground One, Parks presented a claim that Goldstein "advised Petitioner to

reject a more favorable plea deal and Petitioner was subsequently sentenced to a much longer period of incarceration." 1 AA 141.

In the argument supporting the claim, Parks alleged "The decision to reject the stipulated eight to twenty year sentence was the product of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner received inaccurate and unprofessional advice concerning that offer and only rejected it on that basis." *Id.* at 143.

Now, after facing rejection of that claim in the district court, Parks presents new argument for the first time on appeal.

2.) The district court rejected Parks' claim without a hearing

After the parties presented argument on Ground One of Parks' petition, the district court found Parks failed to demonstrate deficient conduct or prejudice under Strickland regarding Goldstein's performance regarding the change of plea. 6 AA 1022. The court entered the following findings: (1) In the plea agreement, Parks specifically rejected the stipulated sentence of 8-20 years; (2) The court canvassed Parks on the rejection, as well as the fact that she could receive any legal sentence; and (3) sentencing was strictly up to the court. 6 AA 1022, 1079.

Parks never received an evidentiary hearing because "the record contains no evidence of constitutionally deficient advice by trial counsel that Parks relied on to her detriment. *Id.* at 1080 (*citing Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 164). Parks' petition never presented facts justifying an evidentiary hearing. *Hargrove*, 100 Nev. at 502, 686

P.2d 222.

The district court properly applied *Strickland* to Parks' Ground One claim.

The district court found neither deficient conduct nor prejudice.

Now, Parks changes her presentation of Ground One in this Court.

B. Parks' brief presents a different claim to this Court

In her opening brief, Parks presents the same heading as presented in Ground One of her state court petition: Trial counsel was ineffective "by advising Parks to reject a more favorable plea deal and Parks was subsequently sentence to a much longer period of incarceration." OB at 30.

However, Parks abandons her losing argument from below and now argues:

The problem here, which is intertwined with the complaints about counsel's performance at the time of sentencing, is that the right-to-argue plea deal Parks accepted had no hope of leading to a better outcome than the stipulated offer, absent serious effort by trial counsel to prepare for the sentencing proceeding. Trial counsel failed to so prepare, and thus was ineffective in advising Parks to accept the right-to-argue offer.

OB at 31-32.

This argument can now be read two ways: First, Parks asserts a "new" Ground One claim (asserting a cumulative error argument based upon alleged deficient advice and failure to perform adequately at sentencing). This claim is not properly before the Court. This new claim fundamentally changes Parks' Ground One claim, as explained below.

Second, Parks' claim can be read as "new argument." In other words, counsel provided strategic advice and did not follow through with the performance needed to ensure Parks received a successful outcome.

In either case, Parks' Ground 1 fails.

1.) Parks' "new" claim is not properly before this Court

Parks' claim before this Court is substantially different than the claim presented in the district court. In fact, the change in the claim alters the claim so substantially, that it changes the relief available were this Court to address the claim and reward relief.

In Parks' original claim in the district court, the remedy upon a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel for deficient advice during plea negotiations is reoffering the rejected plea agreement. *See, Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 174 (2012).

In Parks' claim—as argued in the opening brief—the appropriate remedy based upon a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to prepare for the sentencing hearing, would be a new sentencing hearing (instead of reoffering the rejected plea agreement). *See, Gonzales v. State*, 492 P.3d 556, 564 (Nev. 2021),⁵ *citing Weaver v. Warden*, 107 Nev. 856, 859, 822 P.2d 112, 114 (1991).

///

⁵ 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 40.

In prior decisions of the Court, addressing post-conviction claims raised for the first instance on direct appeal, the Court requires a showing of cause and prejudice regarding the failure to raise the claim in the district court. *See McNelton v. State*, 115 Nev. 396, 415-17, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275-76 (1999), *citing to Hill v. State*, 114 Nev. 169, 178, 953 P.2d 1077, 1084 (1998).

In her brief, Parks presents no cause or prejudice to overcome her failure to argue this claim in the district court in the first instance. Therefore, Respondent requests the Court to decline addresses Parks' new claim and instead affirm the district court denial of the claim as argued before that court.

2.) Parks' Ground One claim as same claim, but new argument

In her petition, Parks alleged:

The decision to reject the stipulated eight to twenty year sentence was the product of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner received inaccurate and unprofessional advice concerning that offer and only rejected it on that basis. Had the risks and benefits of that offer been fully and correctly explained to Petitioner, she would have accepted the original offer.

1 AA 143.

In her opening brief, Parks now argues:

The problem here, which is intertwined with the complaints about counsel's performance at the time of sentencing, is that the right-to-argue plea deal Parks accepted had no hope of leading to a better outcome than the stipulated offer, absent serious effort by trial counsel to prepare for the sentencing proceeding. Trial counsel

failed to so prepare, and thus was ineffective in advising Parks to accept the right-to-argue offer.

OB at 31-32.

Parks then asserts, what Goldstein should have said, or should have done at sentencing, moving beyond the allegation of advice to 'reject the stipulated sentence.' *Id.* at 32-36. Parks concludes that appropriate relief is to mandate a "reoffer" of the stipulated sentence.

However, for several reasons, Parks' fails to demonstrate either deficient conduct or prejudice under *Strickland*.

C. Despite the new argument Parks' claim still fails

The first reason this Court should affirm the district court is the same reason that Parks' claim failed below: Despite the new argument, the same glaring absence in Parks' state court petition, is still present here. Parks assumes, but never presents, evidence that Goldstein advised Parks to reject the plea.

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